I	N TH	E SUP	REME	COURT	
OF	THE	STATE	OF	FLORIDA	



FEB 8 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

CHARTER REVIEW COMMISSION OF ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA,

CASE NO. 83,010

Petitioner,

-vs-

a.

ERNIE SCOTT, RICHARD T. CROTTY, etc., EARL K. WOOD, etc., KEVIN BEARY, etc., and BETTY CARTER, etc.,

Respondents.

DISCRETIONARY PROCEEDINGS TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

PETITIONER, CHARTER REVIEW COMMISSION, BRIEF ON MERITS

> MÉL R. MARTINEZ Florida Bar No. 163661 MARTINEZ & DALTON, P.A. 719 Vassar Street Orlando, Florida 32804 407/425-0712

Attorneys for Petitioner, Charter Review Commission of Orange County, Florida

Of Counsel:

STATEMENT OF CASE

On October 12, 1992, Ernie Scott filed an action for declaratory and injunctive relief against the Board of County Commissioners, Orange County, Florida ("the Board" or "the County Commission"), Betty Carter, as Orange County Supervisor of Election, and the Charter Review Commission, Orange County, Florida ("the CRC" or "the Charter Review Commission"), challenging a ballot question proposing a revision to the County Charter ("the Charter") R. 117-47; 154-185; 236-266. Walter J. Gallagher as Sheriff of Orange County, Ford S. Hausman, as Orange County Property Appraiser, and Earl K. Wood as Orange County Tax Collector, were subsequently added as party-plaintiffs.¹ R. 220-224, 229-234. The Board and the CRC moved to dismiss the action, but their motions were denied. R. 187-189, 190-192, 225-228, 290-291.

An emergency hearing was held on October 22, 1992, before the Honorable Lawrence Kirkwood. R. 1-116. On October 26, eight days before the general election, Judge Kirkwood entered a final order declaring Charter Ballot Question # 1 constitutionally invalid and mandating that the question be stricken from the ballot. R. 335-342.

The CRC immediately filed its Notice of Appeal, in which the Board joined. R. 343-344. The order of the trial court was

¹After the general election, the Fifth District Court of Appeal permitted newly elected Sheriff Kevin Beary to be substituted for former Sheriff Gallagher; the current Property Appraiser is Richard Crotty.

stayed by the Fifth District Court of Appeal on October 28, 1992, and the election was conducted with Question #1 on the ballot.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal subsequently issued its opinion affirming the trial court's order on the basis that Ballot Question Number 1 violated the single subject rule. See Appendix A. The CRC and the Board moved for rehearing, and on December 10, 1993, the Fifth District granted the motion for rehearing and certified the following question to be one of great public importance:

Whether ballot questions containing county charter revisions proposed by a charter review commission are subject to a single subject rule?

Appendix B. On January 3, 1994, the CRC filed its notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Honorable Court, and was joined by the Board. This brief is filed pursuant to the Court's initial briefing scheduling order.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 4, 1986, the voters of Orange County adopted a Charter. R. 155. As required by statute, the Charter contained provisions for amendments and revisions.

Orange County's Charter can be revised or amended only by voter approval of ballot questions proposed pursuant to three methods described in Sections 601, 701, and 702 of the Charter.² Orange County Charter §§ 601, 701, and 702 (see Appendix C). Section 702 of the Orange County Charter provides for the appointment of a charter review commission charged with the responsibility of conducting a comprehensive study of county government for the purpose of proposing suggested "amendments and revisions to the Charter." Id. at § 702 -- see Appendix C. The CRC is an independent review board that through majority vote can place issues on the ballot without review by or interference from the County Commission. Orange County Charter § 702. In addition to the charter review commission process, citizens, through initiative and the County Commission can also present changes to the electorate for approval. Id. at §§ 601 and 701.

On January 29, 1991, the Board appointed fifteen persons to serve on the Charter Review Commission. R. 154-185. In accordance with the Orange County Charter, these persons were Orange County electors, but were not elected officials. <u>Id</u>.

²Orange County's Charter is attached as Appendix C.

The CRC conducted numerous public hearings and held deliberations and public meetings regarding the Charter and its revision. <u>Id</u>.; See Exhibit C of the Amended Complaint. On July 30, 1992, the CRC presented its final report containing six proposed Charter amendments and revisions. <u>Id</u>. The only question involved in these proceedings is Charter Ballot Question Number 1 which provided that the Charter would be revised as follows:

QUESTION #1

CREATE CITIZEN REVIEW BOARD; CHANGE SHERIFF, PROPERTY APPRAISER, AND TAX COLLECTOR TO ELECTED CHARTER OFFICERS

Shall the Orange County Charter be revised to: (a) create a Citizen Review Board with subpoena power that would review and make recommendations regarding citizen complaints and departmental investigations of the use of force or abuse of power by employees of the Sheriff; and (b) make the Orange County Sheriff, Property Appraiser and Tax Collector elected charter officials subject to Charter provisions and abolish their current status as "constitutional officers"?

The CRC also delivered, prior to the election, a report to each registered voter explaining the six proposed Charter amendments and revisions.

All six ballot questions were placed on the November 3, 1992 ballot pursuant to Section 702 of the Charter. R. 154-185 -- See Exhibit A and C to the Amended Complaint. Charter Ballot Question Number 1 was overwhelmingly approved by the voters. See p. 3 of the Fifth District's Opinion -- Appendix A.³

³Four of the six proposals were passed by the voters. 88.7% of the registered electorate voted in the November 3, 1992 general election. Question #1 was approved by 63.48% of the voters; the

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has never considered the issues presented by the certified question. The cases relied on by the Fifth District involve bond validations or legislative enactments clearly distinguishable from charter revisions proposed by a charter review commission. To preserve Orange County's voters' right to revise their Charter in a manner consistent with the Florida Constitution and in accordance with the Orange County Charter, this Court should accept jurisdiction and reverse the Fifth District's opinion.

There is no constitutional, statutory, or Charter provision imposing a single subject rule on ballot questions proposed by a charter review commission. The single subject rule applies only to the passage of laws by the Florida Legislature, the enactment of ordinances by cities and counties and to changes to the Florida Constitution proposed by citizen initiative petition. It does not apply to ballot questions proposed by a charter review commission. The Fifth District, acknowledging these limitations on the single subject rule, nevertheless held that it is good "public policy" to extend the rule to charter ballot questions proposed by a charter review commission. The Fifth District's holding ignores express constitutional and statutory provisions, eviscerates the mechanism for change via the Charter Review Commission process established by the Orange County Charter, and frustrates the voters' ability to revise their Charter.

other propositions were approved by the following percentages: Question #2 - 55.34%; Question #3 - 62.30%; and Question #5 - 61.57%.

Charter changes proposed by charter review commissions do not warrant the imposition of the single subject rule. In this area of organic (charter or constitutional) law, multiple issue change is proper and necessary if proper safeguards exist. For example, of the four methods of amending Florida's Constitution, the single subject rule is imposed only on change proposed by initiative petition. Florida's Constitution deliberately omits a single subject requirement, that had been previously included in the predecessor to Article XI, regarding change proposed by the Legislature, the Constitution Revision Commission, and the Constitutional Convention.

Similarly, Orange County's Charter empowers the Charter Review Commission to propose amendments <u>and</u> revisions to the Charter and it has procedural safeguards similar to the Constitution Review Commission. Without relief from this Court, the Fifth District's opinion will make the revision provision of the Charter (and presumably of the Constitution) a nullity.

Local charters and the State Constitution form the foundation of each government as approved by the voters. The Constitution and all charters create deliberative bodies charged with the responsibility of conducting comprehensive studies on the need for constitutional change. They are empowered to recommend change to all or to a part of their constitutional documents. It is imperative that these bodies be given the freedom to propose changes to this organic law without being restricted by the single subject rule. Any other result would jeopardize -- contrary to the

Legislature's and the voters' creation of charter government -- the voters' ability to adopt an initial charter that by necessity contains multiple subjects and issues associated with the establishment of a new form of government. To parse the initial adoption of a charter, or its subsequent changes, into innumerable questions limited to a single subject would make an already tedious process impossible.

The freedom to propose multi-subject change to county charters and the State Constitution was carefully created and is necessary to efficient and effective change that is the hallmark of our system of government and its ability to adapt to our dynamic society. This freedom from piecemeal change must be preserved by reversing the Fifth District's opinion and upholding the Charter Review Commission's right to propose change without being hindered by a single subject rule.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT SHOULD INVOKE JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE CERTIFIED QUESTION PRESENTS IMPORTANT ISSUES NEVER ADDRESSED BY THE COURT THAT WILL AFFECT CHARTER COUNTIES AND SUBSEQUENT BALLOT PROPOSALS CONTAINING PROPOSED REVISIONS.

This is a case of first impression. Florida courts have applied the single subject rule to amendments to the Florida Constitution proposed by initiative, acts of the legislature, municipal ordinances and resolutions, and county ordinances and bond issues. <u>E.g., In re Advisory Opinion of the Attorney General</u>, 592 So. 2d 225 (Fla. 1991); <u>Burch v. State</u>, 558 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1990); <u>State v. Dade County</u>, 39 So. 2d 807 (Fla. 1949); <u>Antuono v.</u> <u>City of Tampa</u>, 87 Fla. 82, 99 So. 324, 326-327 (1924). Notably absent from Florida jurisprudence is any application of the single subject rule to a revision of a county charter adopted pursuant to the grant of local self government power provided by Article VIII, Section 1(g) of the Florida Constitution.

In its opinion, the Fifth District acknowledged by omission that no constitutional or statutory provisions apply the single subject rule to revisions to county charters. <u>See Charter Review</u> <u>Commission v. Scott</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D2126, 2127-28 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).⁴ The Fifth District nevertheless held that Ballot Question

⁴In fact, the Fifth District could find only that the single subject rule applied in specified limited circumstances as provided in the Florida Constitution and the Florida Statutes:

In Florida, various constitutional and statutory provisions expressly apply the single subject rule to legislative acts, county ordinances, and municipal ordinances and resolutions. <u>See Art. III, §6, Fla.</u> <u>Const.</u> (applying the single subject rule to legislative

Number 1 proposed by the Charter Review Commission was violative of the single subject rule and unconstitutional. <u>Id</u>.

Notwithstanding the absence of precedent or authority, the Fifth District believed "public policy" warranted extrapolating the single subject rule far beyond its prior application. <u>Id</u>. at 2127-28. The effect of this ruling is far-reaching.

Fourteen Florida Counties, including most of the more densely populated counties, now operate under a home rule or charter form of government. As their citizens attempt to change these charters, they will be severely limited by the single subject rule imposed by the Fifth District. Moreover, the crux of the ruling -- that "public policy" abhors all multiple-issue revision proposals -lays a dangerous precedent for finding future constitutional revisions invalid notwithstanding the express language in Article XI, Section 2 of the Florida Constitution, which is virtually identical to the language in Orange County's Charter allowing for change through a "review commission" process.

For these reasons and others set forth in this brief, the Court should invoke jurisdiction and resolve the issues presented by this case of first impression.

acts); Art. XI, §3, <u>Fla. Const</u>. (applying the single subject rule to amendments by initiative to the Florida Constitution); §125.67, <u>Fla. Stat</u>. (1991) (applying the single subject rule to county ordinances); §166.041(2), <u>Fla. Stat</u>. (1991) (applying the single subject rule to municipal ordinances and resolutions).

Charter Review Commission v. Scott, 18 Fla.L.Weekly D2126, 2128 n.2. (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).

II. BALLOT QUESTIONS CONTAINING COUNTY CHARTER REVI-SIONS PROPOSED BY A CHARTER REVIEW COMMISSION ARE NOT SUBJECT TO A SINGLE SUBJECT RULE.

A. There Is No Constitutional, Statutory Or Charter Provision Imposing The Single Subject Rule On Ballot Questions Proposed By A Charter Review Commission.

The single subject rule is only found in the Florida Constitution and Florida Statutes, but these provisions do not concern changes to a county charter.

The Florida Constitution contains two provisions regarding the single subject rule: Article III, Section 6 and Article XI, Section 3. Article III is entitled "Legislature", i.e. the Senate and House of Representatives. Art. III, §1, <u>Fla. Const</u>. Section 6 of that Article, entitled "Laws", provides as follows:

Every law shall embrace but one subject and matters properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title. No law shall be revised or amended by reference to its title only. Laws to revise or amend shall set out in full the revised or amended act, sections, subsections or paragraph of a subsection. The enacting clause of every law shall read: 'Be it Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida'.

Art. III, §6, <u>Fla. Const</u>. (emphasis added). This provision imposes the single subject rule on Florida laws enacted by the Florida Legislature. No Florida Court has applied this provision beyond its express limits. There is no basis for the contention that this provision imposes the single subject rule on a charter revision proposed by a charter review commission.

Article XI of the Florida Constitution is entitled "Amendments". Art. XI, Fla. Const. Section 3 of that Article, entitled "Initiative", provides as follows: The power to propose the revision or amendment of any portion or portions of this constitution by initiative is reserved to the people, provided that, any such revision or amendment shall embrace but one subject and matters directly connected therewith...

This provision is expressly limited to the imposition of the single subject rule on initiative petitions. No Florida Court has applied this initiative provision beyond its exact limits. Moreover, revisions proposed by the Constitution Revision Commission, the constitutional counterpart to Orange County's Charter Review Commission, are not limited by the single subject rule when making or presenting proposals to the electorate for vote. <u>See Art. XI, §2, Fla. Const</u>. The Appellees cannot ignore the parallels between the Constitution Revision Commission and the Charter Review Commission and contend that the initiative provision imposes the single subject rule on a ballot question proposed by a charter review commission.

The single subject rule is imposed on county and city ordinances by two provisions of the Florida Statutes. Section 125.67, <u>Fla. Stat</u>. (1991) (county <u>ordinances</u>); Section 166.041(2), <u>Fla. Stat</u>. (1991) (municipal <u>ordinances</u>). No Florida Court has applied these provisions beyond their express limits. In addition, the existence of these provisions reinforces the argument that Article III, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution, applies only to the Florida Legislature. If Article III, Section 6, is interpreted to the contrary, the statutory provisions regarding municipal and county ordinances would be superfluous.

It appears that the Fifth District Court of Appeal relied on Section 125.67, Florida Statutes, as the general law imposing the single subject rule on revisions or amendments to county charters. <u>See Scott</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly at 2128. Yet, Section 125.67, which is located in the chapter on county government, provides in relevant part that "every <u>ordinance</u> shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith." Section 125.67, <u>Fla. Stat</u>. (1991) (emphasis added). Given that Section 125.67 is expressly limited to ordinances, it was improper for the Fifth District to read more into the statute and to rewrite it to include county charters.

B. There Is No "General Law" Or "Public Policy" Imposing The Single Subject Rule On Ballot Questions Proposed By A Charter Review Commission.

The Fifth District held that "under general law and public policy of Florida, the single subject rule must also apply to proposed county charter amendments." This holding is based on an inaccurate and erroneous analysis.

The Fifth District begins its analysis with Article VIII, Section 1(g) of the Florida Constitution. Section 1 is entitled "Counties" and subsection (g) is entitled "Charter Government". This provision states as follows:

Counties operating under county charters shall have all powers of local self-government not inconsistent with general law, or with special law approved by vote of the electors. The governing body of a county operating under a charter may enact county ordinances not inconsistent with general law. The charter shall provide which shall prevail in the event of conflict between county and municipal ordinances.

Thus, the Orange County Commission must comply with the single subject rule as provided in Section 125.67 <u>in enacting ordinances</u>. But that requirement has no bearing on the challenged ballot question. It was an independent citizen group -- the Charter Review Commission -- who proposed the contested ballot question. By their very nature, actions and proposals of a county charter review commission are not ordinances or legislative acts.

The contention that Article III, Section 6 applies to the contested ballot question as a "general law" imposed on charter government counties by Article VIII, Section 1(g) similarly makes no sense. Article VIII, Section 1(g) of the Florida Constitution defines the power of charter counties. Article III, Section 6, on the other hand, defines the power of the Florida Legislature to enact laws.

Not only is there a complete absence of constitutional or statutory law imposing a single subject rule on county charter revisions proposed by charter review commissions, but a similar dearth of authority exists under Florida's common law. None of the cases relied upon by the Fifth District applied the single subject rule to revisions to county charters. <u>See Scott</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly at 2127-28 (relying on <u>State v. Dade County</u>, 39 So. 2d 807 (Fla. 1949); <u>City of Coral Gables v. Gray</u>, 154 Fla. 881, 19 So. 2d 318 (1944); <u>Antuono v. City of Tampa</u>, 87 Fla. 82, 99 So. 324 (1924)).

In <u>State v. Dade County</u>, this Court applied the single subject rule to a bond issuance proposed by the Board of County Commissioners, not to a county charter revision proposed by a

charter review commission. In <u>Antuono v. City of Tampa</u>, this Court applied the single subject rule to another bond issue proposed by a municipality, not to a county charter revision proposed by a charter review commission. Similarly, in <u>City of Coral Gables v.</u> <u>Gray</u>, this Court applied Article XVII, Section 1 of the Florida Constitution which at that time provided that "the proposed amendments shall be so submitted as to enable the electors to vote on each amendment separately,"⁵ and required constitutional amendments to comply with the single subject rule. The issue of a revision to a county charter proposed by a charter review commission was not involved.

Amendment of a section or revision of one or more articles, or the whole of this constitution may be proposed by joint resolutions agreed to by three-fifths of the membership of each house of the legislature. The full text of this joint resolution and the vote of each member voting shall be entered on the journal of each house.

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