MAR 10 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

₿y_

CHARTER REVIEW COMMISSION OF ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

CASE NO.: 83,010

vs.

ERNIE SCOTT, RICHARD T. CROTTY, as ORANGE COUNTY PROPERTY APPRAISER, EARL K. WOOD, as ORANGE COUNTY TAX COLLECTOR, and <u>KEVIN BEARY</u>, as ORANGE COUNTY SHERIFF, BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONS OF ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, BETTY CARTER AS ORANGE COUNTY SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS,

Appellees,

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS BY RESPONDENT KEVIN BEARY, SHERIFF OF ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

> PHILLIP P. QUASCHNICK, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No.: 224677

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In accordance with Florida Rules of Appellant Procedures 9.210(c), the Respondent, Kevin Beary, Sheriff of Orange County, Florida, generally accepts the statement of case and facts submitted by Petitioner, Charter Review Commission of Orange County, and Amicus Curiae, Metropolitan Dade County, except for the following areas of disagreement.

1. The ballot proposition submitted to the voters of Orange County for their approval by the Charter Review Commission was not a revision, but rather an amendment to the charter establishing a Citizen's Review Board and abolishing the constitutional offices of Sheriff, Tax Collector, and Property Appraiser. (R. 117-147, Exhibit C).

2. The trial court below held that the ballot question at issue was defective because not only did it embrace more than one subject, in violation of Article VIII, Section I(g) of the Florida Constitution, and §§125.01(1)(y), 125.66, and 125.67 of the Florida Statutes (1993), but it also failed to satisfy the notice requirements of Section 101.161(1), Florida Statutes (1993). (R. 336). The Fifth District Court of Appeal specifically declined to rule on the ballot summary issue in light of its holding affirming the trial court on the single subject issue. <u>Charter Review Commission v. Scott</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly 2126, 2128, n.3 (Fla. 5th DCA Oct. 1, 1993).

1

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District Court of Appeal correctly determined that the proposed amendment to the Orange County Charter, which abolished the constitutional offices of Sheriff, Tax Collector, and Property Appraiser, while also establishing a Citizens Review Board to investigate allegations of excessive force and abusive power by members of the Sheriff's Office, constituted an unfair ballot proposal violating the single subject rule. This Court has long held that ballot proposals which combine several unrelated subjects are fundamentally unfair because the voter is forced into an "all or nothing" decision which defies the purpose behind the single subject limitation. The Petitioner and the Amicus have not cited any Florida precedent which exempts charter amendments set forth on a ballot proposal from the single subject rule. Rather, as early as 1924, this Court recognized that the rule applied to local government propositions submitted to the electorate for their approval. This same rule of law should apply with equal force to proposed charter amendments. To hold otherwise and answer the certified question in the negative would in effect condone a form of "logrolling" in which a popular charter amendment may be combined with an unlimited number of less popular amendments in a single "take it or leave it" ballot proposal.

Such a ruling would be contrary to fundamental fairness and established norms of democratic behavior.

Application of the single subject rule in this case leads to the inescapable conclusion that the proposed amendment at issue violates the rule. As found by the District Court of Appeal, the proposed amendment contains at least two diverse subjects and arguably as

2

many as four. There is simply no relationship between the establishment of a Citizens Review Board to oversee certain aspects of the Office of Sheriff and abolishment of the Office of Tax Collector and Property Appraiser. In order to authorize the formation of the obviously popular Citizens Review Board, the electorate of Orange County should not have had to also choose whether to abolish three separate, distinct, and independent constitutional offices.

Finally, should the Court decide to consider the ballot summary issue, which was not decided by the Fifth District Court of Appeal, the Respondent urges the Court to affirm the decision of the trial court on this issue. The ballot summary fails to explain the dramatic effect and ramifications associated with abolishing these constitutional offices, particular the Office of Sheriff, and reconstituting each office as a charter office. Moreover, the summary fails to explain that the proposed amendment establishes criminal sanctions for failure to obey a subpoena or order of the Citizens Review Board. As such, the summary violates the requirements of Section 101.161(1), Florida Statutes (1993).

In light of the above, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative and affirm the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

ARGUMENT I

THE SINGLE SUBJECT RULE APPLIES TO COUNTY CHARTER AMENDMENTS PLACED ON AN ELECTION BALLOT.

The Petitioner and Amicus both assert that the Fifth District Court of Appeal erred in holding that the proposed Charter amendment presented to the voters of Orange County for their approval violated the single subject rule when it combined the establishment of a Citizen's Review Board with the abolishment of the constitutional offices of County Sheriff, Property Appraiser, and Tax Collector, and replacement of such offices with Charter offices. In essence, the Petitioner and Amicus contend that there is absolutely no authority which requires a charter review commission to comply with the single subject rule when proposing amendments to a charter via election ballot. In other words, a review commission can place as many unrelated subjects amending or revising a charter on a single ballot proposition thereby forcing members of the electorate to vote in favor of portions of the amendment they may in fact oppose in order to approve portions of an amendment they support. This view of the law in Florida is simply wrong, and the District Court of Appeals decision should be affirmed.

Neither the Petitioner nor the Amicus has cited a single constitutional provision, statute, or court decision which authorizes the submission of a single ballot proposal to the electorate containing numerous distinct and unrelated propositions. Rather, this Court has long recognized that such ballot proposals are contrary to the general rule of law which invalidates elections where voters are prevented from expressing their will as to each separate and distinct proposal submitted for their consideration. Neither the trial court nor the Fifth District Court of Appeal found any exemption from this general rule of law which would apply to the charter amendment at issue in this case. Indeed, numerous constitutional and statutory provisions imply that the rule against multiple subjects does in fact apply to charter amendments proposed on an election ballot.

FLORIDA AND OTHER STATE COURT DECISIONS

The Fifth District Court of Appeal correctly focused its attention on this Court's decisions in <u>Antuono v. City of Tampa</u>, 99 So. 324 (Fla. 1924), and <u>State v. Dade County</u>, 39 So.2d. 807 (Fla. 1949). In <u>Antuono</u>, the City of Tampa was enjoined from seeking voter approval for the issuance of bonds to fund numerous public projects, all contained on a single ballot proposal. The City argued that the ballot was neither illegal nor in excess of the powers conferred upon the City by its charter, which provided for the issuance of municipal bonds upon ratification by majority of the electors. Id. at 326. This Court held to the contrary by stating that the City's charter does not contemplate an unreasonable exercise of authority and that "general principles of law", sustained by reason and authority, prohibit combining two or more separate and distinct propositions in a single ballot proposal. Id. at 326. The Court quoted with approval the rule set forth in McQuillin, THE LAW OF MUNICIPAL CORPORATIONS, stating in pertinent part:

The object of the rule preventing the submission of several and distinct propositions to the people united as one in such a manner as to compel the voter to reject or accept all is to prevent the joining of one local subject to others in such a way that each shall gather votes for all, and thus, one measure, by its popularity or by its apparent necessity, carries other measures not so popular or necessary and which the people, if granted the opportunity of separate ballots, might defeat.

<u>Id.</u> at 326.

This Court applied the same rationale in <u>State v. Dade County</u>, <u>supra</u>, where it stated,

"It is established law that if there are two or more separate and distinct propositions to be voted on, each proposition should be stated separately and distinctly so that a voter may declare his opinion as to each matter separately since several projects can be united in one submission to the voters so as to call for an affirmative or negative vote upon all the projects." Elections which violate this rule are invalid. 39 So.2d. at 808.

It is critical to note that the court in <u>Antuono</u> and <u>Dade County</u> did not rely on any specific constitutional, statutory, or charter provisions in reaching its decisions. Thus, the Petitioner and the Amicus are in error to the extent that they argue there must be a specific constitutional, statutory, or charter provision requiring application of the single subject rule to a ballot proposal amending a county charter in order to invalidate the amendment at issue in this case.

The Petitioner and the Amicus also attempt to distinguish the <u>Antuono</u> and <u>Dade</u> <u>County</u> decisions arguing (1) that they only apply to bond issues; (2) that the section in McQuillin relied upon by the court only concerned taxation and bond matters; and (3) that other states do not apply this rule of law to charter amendments without specific constitutional or statutory authority. A review of the decisions in <u>Antuono</u> and <u>Dade</u> <u>County</u>, however, does not indicate any intent by the Court to so limit its holdings. The section of the current edition of Latta and McQuillin, dealing with charter amendments and quoted by Petitioner on page 18 of its brief, states that all subjects contained within a charter amendment must be <u>germane</u> to the general subject, and propositions which are substantially distinct and separable are required to be separately submitted for voter ratification. Latta and McQuillin, THE LAW OF MUNICIPAL CORPORATION. §9.27. Moreover,

6

numerous state court decisions apply the single subject rule to charter amendments submitted to voters for ratification without reference to any specific state constitutional or statutory provision adopting a single subject rule.

In <u>State v. Maitland</u>, 246 S.W. 267 (Mo. 1922), the Missouri Supreme Court invalidated a ballot proposal amending a charter by creating a fire department and a water commission, and naming certain officers to the water commission. Because the ballot contained three separate propositions, the court categorized it as "legal fraud" designed to compel votes which is "universally condemned". <u>Id</u>. at 272. The court went on to specifically reject the argument that the single subject rule applied only to ballot questions dealing with debts or matters of taxation, stating, "On the contrary, it has so arisen and the doctrine is as firmly fixed in one class of cases as in the other. ... There can be no question about the application of the rule to cases in general, and especially in cases involving amendments to an organic law." <u>Id</u>. at 272 Similarly, in <u>State v. Hall</u>, 75 S.W. 2d 579 (Mo. 1934), the Missouri Supreme Court held that the single subject rule applied to proposed charter amendments even though no such requirement was contained in the state constitution or the charter itself. Rather, the court relied upon the following passage from the American and English Encyclopedia of Law:

"Two propositions cannot be united in the submission so as to have one expression of the vote answer both propositions, as voters may be there by induced to vote for both propositions who would not have done so if the questions had been submitted singly."

Id. at 579, quoting 21 Am. and Eng. Ency. Law (2nd Ed.); see also, Hulbert v. Board of Education of Louisville, 382 S.W. 2d 389 (Kty App. Ct. 1964)(applies single subject rule to

7

local ballot proposal on taxes based upon general principles of law); <u>Board of Directors of</u> <u>Northern Wasco County Peoples Utility District v. Kelley</u>, 137 P.2d 295, 303 (Or. 1943)(contrary to spirit of popular elections to require voters to express their choice upon more than one proposition in a single ballot question citing, 18 Am. Jur. Elections §181 and 29 C.J.S., Elections §79).

The Petitioner's reliance upon the Supreme Court of Colorado's decision in <u>City and</u> <u>County of Denver v. Newburn</u>, 354 P.2d 155 (1960), is misplaced. Although the court held that it would not generally apply the single subject rule to a charter amendment absent a specific statutory or constitutional provision requiring it to do so, it explained that the single subject rule had been applied in "exceptional" cases where a proposed charter amendment was comprised of too many "non-germane" subjects, such as <u>an attempt to remove and</u> <u>replace elected officials</u>. <u>Id</u>. at 159. (Emphasis added). Just such an exceptional circumstance exists in this case because the charter amendment at issue sought to abolish three separate constitutional offices and replace those offices with charter offices. Thus, even the <u>Newborn</u> decision, as well as prior decisions by this Court and other state courts, support the Respondent's position in this case because of the exceptional nature of the amendment.

APPLICABLE FLORIDA STATUTORY AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

In addition to decisions by this Court, the Fifth District Court of Appeal and the trial court both relied upon numerous statutory and constitutional provisions which, while not specifically providing for, certainly imply that the single subject rule is applicable to a single ballot question proposing separate amendments to a county charter. Section 125.01, Florida Statutes (1993), lists various powers and duties confirmed upon a county's legislative governing body. Subsection (1)(y) provides in pertinent part:

> Place questions or propositions on the ballot at any primary election, general election, or otherwise called special election, when agreed to by a majority vote of the total membership of the legislative and governing body as to obtain an expression of an elector sentiment with respect to matters of substantial concern within the county. ...

Obviously, as noted by this Court in its decision in <u>Antuono</u>, the true sentiments of the voters cannot be determined when numerous separate propositions are contained in a single ballot question. 99 So. at 326. Voters may in fact be swayed to vote in favor of a ballot proposal which contains a subject that is highly favored by the voters, even though it contains other separate, unrelated subjects, which the voters would otherwise reject. When this occurs, the true sentiment of the voters cannot be determined in conformity with the requirements of Section 125.01(1)(y).

This same rationale was utilized most recently by this Court when it held that a proposed constitutional amendment violated the single subject rule. In its decision, the Court reasoned that the rule was designed to present voters from being "trapped" into accepting a change in the constitution they oppose in order to obtain a change which they support. In re: Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General - Restricts Laws Related to Discrimination, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S109, 110 (Fla. March 3, 1994).

Section 101.161, Florida Statutes (1993), mandates certain requirements that must be met in order to place a public measure, such as a charter amendment, on a ballot for a vote by the electors. The ballot must contain an explanatory statement not exceeding 75 words which details the "chief purpose" of the measure. Obviously the legislature intended that each ballot measure contain a singular purpose which can be explained in 75 words. Had the legislature intended to allow ballot proposals to contain numerous unrelated subjects, it would not have restricted the manner in which the "chief purpose" of the ballot measure must be summarized to the electorate.¹

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